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Historical Sketch

WAY back as early as the middle of the last century a number of
families, most of them from the Highlands of Scotland, settled
along the Thames River, in the Townships of Dunwich and

Ekfrid. It is to that settlement which later formed the congregation of
Chalmer’s, Dunwich, that we, as a community, today turn and which we
reverently call to mind. The religious instinct which had been carefully
nurtured in the Homeland was strong in them, and coming to a country
that had no past, a foundation must be laid, and the fact that that
foundation must be laid in richteousness they never doubted or questionzd.
In their homes the Altar of God was set up and in order to obey the
scriptural injunction, to “forsake not the assembling of yourselves
together,” they met in one another’s homes and beneath the shelter of
the forest with fallen troes for seats, and thus they conducted their own
service of prayer and praise,

This was but introductory, as they longed for a definite place which
might be known as “Th2 House of God.” It is said that one, Mr. Hugh
McBride, never missed an opportunity of mentioning in prayer meeting,
that desire. To this end a public meeting was held at the home of Mr.
Hugh Fletcher, a short distance south of the river, on the sixth day of
July, 1853. At that meeting we have on record the following resolutions
having been passed:

1. “That a church was to be built on Mr. Hugh Fletcher's fa
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“That it was to be 42 feet in length and 30 feet in width,” etc.

3. “That it was to be a Presbvterian church, in connection with
the Free Presbyterian Church in Canada.”

It was a2 ereat day when the building was readv to be used for Gospe!
services. The building was a credit to the times and answered its purpose
well for many vears. It still stands in a good state of repair, but now as
a barn. Those who had the building operation under their supervision
were Messrs. Robert Brodie, Angus Fletcher, Robert Fletcher, John
Campbell, Thomas Campbell, John McTavish and Hugh McBride. Mr
Aneus Fletcher was treasurer, and Mr. Hugh McBride, secretary. The
first subscription list was drawn up and the sums wer2 named in pounds
shillines and pence. It was not until the vear 1856 that the dedication
services fook place, the Rev. Mr. Scotf, then minister in St. Andrew’s,
l.ondon, beine present for the occasion. It is therefore sixty vears since
the conereration was formally recognized as a part of the Preshyterian
Church in Canada.

The elders who constituted the first session were James Graham,
Thomas Campbell, Robert Brodie and Angus Fletcher, and those who
formed the first Deacon’s court were Hugh Brodie, Robert Fletcher, Hugh
McBride and Archibald McNab. Their duty was to look after the material
affairs of the congreeation and they corresponded to our present Board
~f Managers. In February, 1868, it was unanimously agreed that the
Axaus FLETCHER tamporal affairs of the -ongreration be managed by a Financial Com-

First Elder mittze, to be chosen by the congregation at the annual meeting.

R




Thomas Oampbell
Eldor
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Those were the days of long distances, with only trails through the
otherwise unbroken forests. The services were maintained under great
difficulties and somewhat intermittently, It was in the year 1858 that
the Presbytery of London was appeal:d to to grant the services of a
missionary for at least six months. The Rev. W. R. Sutheriand, then in
charge of the Presbyterian congregation on the Longwoods Road, was
appointed moderator of the naw charge. It was not until ten years after
the church was built that definite steps were taken to have a seftled
pastor, when application was made to and eranted by the Presbvterv to
proceed to moderate in a call. Accordingly in the year 1865 the Rev.
John Stewart, then of Blyth, in the County of Huron, was called at a
salary of $400. The call was accepted and his induction took placz on
August 23rd of the same year.

I'he work of the church was now pssuming a permanency, for we
find that in the spring of the foliowing year, no less than four Sabbath
Schools were carried on under the supervision of the Session. Sahbath
Schools were established at the following p'ices: On the north sid: o
the river, in Brodie’s school house (Riverside), and at Melbourne; on
the south side, at the church and on the townline at the junction of the
townline and 5th Concession,

The Sabbath School Melbourne was continued open all the vear
but the others closed durinz the winter months. Mr. Thomas Gordon
was the superintendent of this school. Mr. Gordon was a very faithful
attendant upon the services of th2 church., notwithstanding the lon:
distance and poor condition of the roads. Fis mode of travel was for 1
time a gig, but his unselfish nature soon fovnd him using a larger convey-
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ance that he might bring others with him, and finally that gave place to 1
still larger one, that none who were willine might be deprived of the
privileges of the sanctuary. Mr. Gordon was for a number of years leader
of the service of praise.

In 1866, on the 22nd of March, the congregation decided to build a
manse for the minister. Land must first be secured and it was decided
to buy one-half acre of land from Mr. Ancus Murray (across the road
from the church), on condition that Mr. Murray ¢ive another half-acre
free. Estimates were soon prepared and it was not long before a com-
fortable dwelling was provided.

In a short time the need for more Elders was recognized and the
followine were ordained to that office in 1868: Robert Fletcher, Robert
Thomson and Thomas Gordon. In the sam2 year, however, the Session
sustained a serious loss in the death of Mr. Robert Brodie. The following
vear, however, the congregation elected to the office of Elder, Robert B
Campbell and David Crosson. In the autumn of that year, 1870, the
pastoral tie which had continued for five vears, was severed. This was
in accord with Rev. Mr. Stewart’s wish, who, because of family bereave- |
ment, desired to be released. |

The Rev. Geo. Sutherland, of Finral, was then asked to become ‘their
Moderator. It was about this time that Mr. Gilbert Hyndman, then an
Elder of the congregation on Longwoods Road, presented his certificate
as member and he was prevailed upon to take the office of Elder.

Rev. Marcorw McKeszie

In the following winter a call was extended to the Rev. Malcolm




Tromas Gorbon
Elder,
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McKenzie, of Doon and Hespeler. The call was accepted and on the
25th dav of April his induction took place. It is interesting to note that
previous to this time Gazlic appears to have been the language most
commonlv used in divine service, as we find a resolution passed: “That an
English sermon be preached in Chalmer’s Church every Sabbath fore-
noon and also at 3:30 p.m. in Brodie's school house and Melbourne
alternately.” Gaelic. however, continued to be used for many vears,
eradually, however. becoming less recognized as necessary. It alwavs
had a promin=nt place at the communion sessions, both at the pre-com-
munion services and at the communion service itself. It thus occupied a
place with more or less recularity in the church services till the beginnine
of the present century.

It was about this time that a strone feeling was manifesting itself
on the north side of the river for more definite recognition as a congre-
tion separate from Dunwich. There were serious difficulties in the wa
of their worshippine on the south side. The distances wecre ereat. The
majority of the conerevation was on the north side, the river was
unbrideed and a scow had to be used, which, to sav the best, was incon-
venient and expensive. Circumstances seemed now to make the time
opportune to move definitely towards separation as their beloved and
devoted pastor had received and accepted a call from Wardsville. Thus
it was that in 1873 that part of the congregation on the Ekfrid side of the
river was separated from the Dunwich part and found new connection
with Cooke's church, Caradoc.

Thus Chalmers was very materially weakened, but they were not
disheartened. It required time to adjust things and for a few’ years thy
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were without the services of a regular pastor. In 1876, however, a new
chapler was opened for the coneregation in the new connection formed
with Duff’s, Largie, which connection lasted harmoniously for many
vears. It now became expedient to consider the moving of the church
building to a more central location in the congregation. It was therefore
decided to move to what was then known as New Montreal, later Cowal.
This having been satisfactorily accomplished, a call was presented to the
Rev. Alexander Urquhart to become the pastor of the united congrega-
tions of Duff’s and Chalmer’s, and early in thespring of the following
vear Mr. Urquhart’s settlement took place. It was considered advisable
to have the minister live nearer to the church and steps were taken to
have the manse in Cowal as well as the church. The old manse was
disposed of and a new one erected immediately north of the church,
which buildine, with many additions and alterations, still serves its pur-
pose. Mr. Urquhart labored with much devotion and success for nearly
fourteen vears, when he resiened to take up the work in another field of
labor. During Mr. Urquhart’s ministry, in the year 1888, Mr. Colin
Campbell and Mr. Peter McNabb were ordained to the holy office ot
Elder. Shortly after the pulpit became vacant. A call was extended to
Rev. J. Gillies, but which was declined.

In October of the same year another call was presented and this
time with success, to the Rev. Alexander McKay, D.D., of Guelph. Dr.
McKay’s pasiorate was a brief one, being only one year, and owing to
sickness in his home his family never came to the field, which sickness
culminated in the death of his wife. The congregations, in deference to
his wish, did not oppose his release. Although his pastorate was so brief,
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yet he left a very deep impression on the life of the congregation and
‘ community.

At the conclusion of Dr. McKay's pastorate there was a vacancy of
nearly two years. A call was finally given to the Rev. John McNeil, of
Uptergrove, in the Presbytery of Barrie. In the spring of 1894 his
induction took place and he labored faithfully for about six years, when
he was obliged, owing to ill-health, to seek rest. He was later restored
to health and is still in the active work of the ministry in his native
province of Nova Scotia.

It was at this time that an event took place which very much con-
cerned the interests of the congreeation and that was the severance by
Preshytery of the connection between Chalmer’s and Duff’s. This arrange-
ment was agreed to, because it seemed to be in the interests of several
other congregations.  After a short period of readjustmnt a happy settle-
ment was effected. when Chalmer’s was connected with McBride’s. Since
which time (1901) that connection has been maintained and the happiest
relations still continue to exist.

Two new Elders were added to the Session shortly after Mr. McNeil’s
induction, viz.,, Mr. D. J. Campbell and Mr. D. A. McNab, and avain
during the vacancv two more were added, when Mr. Donald Thomson
and Mr. John Fletcher were elected to the holy office of Elder.

In the sprine of 1901 a call was ¢iven to and acceptsd by the Rav.
Rosert FrLETCHER S. Lawrence of Ilderton and Vanneck, in the London Preshytery, whose
Elder ! induction took place on the 25th day of April. The settlement was 1 most
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happy one and Mr. Lawrence ministered with success f(.\l' six years, \\'h‘un
to the regret of all he acecpted a call to the Presbytery of Guelph, in which
he still labors.

The earlv vears of the centurv were important ones for this congre-
eation. It had been decided that the old church was no longer adequate
to the needs of the conereration and steps were taken to erect one that
would in a measure express this desire. Accordingly, a site was secured
work was undertaken, plans formed and contracts let, and on the 26ih
of June, 1901, the corner stone of the present handsome building was
well and trulv laid, and in February of the following vear it was formally
opened and dedicated to God as a place of public worship.

The Rev. J. A. McDonald, then Editor of The Westminster, (later
better known as McDonald of the Globe), was the preacher for the
occasion. His stirring words are still recalled by many who heard them
on that dav. It was with the openine services of the new church that the
organ first was used to aid in the service of praise. Previously the praise
of the conereeation had been led bv a precentor. Several had filled that
office but for several vears previous to the comine of the organ Mr. D. A,
McNab performed that duty with fidelity and ability.

In 1904 three more elders were elected, ordained and inducted to fill
places made vacant bv deaths and removals. These were Thomas McCal-
lum, William Carroll and John M. Campbell. In the autumn of the
same vear the session sustained a serious loss in the death of Mr. Daniel
Thomson.
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In the spring of 1907 the congregation bade farewell to their beloved
pastor, and in the fall of the same year a call was extended to the Rev.
D. McKay, of Alton, in the Orangeville Presbytery. The call was accepted
and on the 28th day of November his induction took place, since which
time the work has received a measure of Divine approval.

Much of the energy of the past was necessary for the maintenance
of ordinances, but the larger claims of the church were always recognized
and responded to in a measure as God had prospered them.

During recent years the congregation has suffered much from remov-
als, by death and otherwise. To such an extent is this true that the
number of families is much smaller now than it once was, yet notwith-
standing we are encouraged to learn that our last year has been the best
in a financial way in all the congregation’s history. pecially is this true
in the church’s missionary activities.

It would not be right nor fitling Lo say nothing of some of the organ-
izations which have labored so unselfishly to bring glory to the great
King and Head of the Church.

Special mention might be made of the W. F. M. S., which has lately
become the W. M. S.

It was a little over twenty-seven years ago that Mrs. Rogers, of
London, after repeated requests, was allowed the privilege of addressing
the ladies of the congregation with the view to presenting the need of an
organization among them for missionary study and work. The request
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was finally granted with the definite understanding that such organizaticn
must not in any way interfere with the other and regular work ot tne
church. The society has never been largz but it has persistently adherad
to its aim and has accomplished much real and lasting good. Mrs.
Alexander Urquhart was the first president and the successive ministers’
wives have occupied the same office. Special mention should be made of
the late Misses Mary and Jane McTavish, who were so faithful to the
society for many years, the latter being president for seven successive
vears. They also left a bequest of $400 in 1914 to the work which the
society represented.

The Sabbath School has always been a vital part of the church’s
life and has been maintained since 1866 by a succession of faithful and
devoted officers. Among (he superintendents of more recent years,
mention should b2 made of Mr. D. A. McNab, John Fletcher and John M.
Campbell, who still serves in that capacity with ability and devotion. The
religious education of the voung, however, has been supplemented for
several years by the Young People’s Society.

In 1894 a Christian Endzavor Society was organized and did much
for the trainine of its members for a larger sphere of usefulness in the
church’s activities. This organizafion, however, was replaced by the
Young People’s Home Mission Society, DBesides its being a training school
for its members its efforts have been directed largely towards missionary
lines, both educative and expressionil. At the present time the young
people hav> assumed and are beariny a definite share of the missionary
budget that is being asked by the Assembly’s Committee.
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GILBERT HY\D\IA\ Davip CRosSON
Eld Elder



16 Coarmers’ CHuren Diavosn JupiLee

PeTER McNans CoLiN CaMPBELL
Ider Elder
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The Ladies’ Aid Society has also been an efficient and helpful
organization. Often during times of stress they have been appealed to
and seldom, if ever, in vain. The office-bearers of the congregation owe
much to the ladies of the congregation for their ready willingness to hel;
and which help they have so generously rendered. Mrs. D. R. Thomson
has been for a number of years the painstaking president and has succ
fully guided the society’s work.

The choir has also rendered valuable assistance to the congregation
With the passing of the precentor an organist must be sought and a most
devoted and faithful one was found in the person of Miss Margaret Camp-
bell (later Mrs. Dougal McTavish). She continued to occupy that trying
position until a couple of years ago when, at her request, the session
accepted with much regret, her resignation, and Mrs. D. McKay was asked
to become the organist, which office she continues to hold.

The founders of Chalmer’s church were men and women of un-
daunted courage and with a faith that would not be shaken. Of those
who constituted the first communion roll only two now remain on the
present roll, viz.,, Mrs. A. Mclachlin, Sr., and Mrs. A. McNab, St., both
of whom united with the church at the same time and are now spending
he evening of life's day lovingly cared for by their families.

In this reminiscent time our hearts are refreshed in the thought of a
Providence that has guided, protected and prospered God’s people in all
these years. We therefore look backward with gratitude and upward with
hanksgiving, and forward with hope, as we stand today under the shadow
of the nation’s cloud of sorrow when the faith of many is shaken.
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In looking over the past the congregation has unnumbered mercies
for which to be thankful. Her ministers have been men, the combined
influence of whose lives has left an indelible impress upon the intellectual,
moral and religious life of the community. The Psalmist’s prayer seems
and prosperity have remained vithin

to have been answered in that *“*peace
the walls of our beloved Zion,"

Let the achievements of the past spur us on to greater thing
of our number who have fought the ¢ood fight and have fin
course, and in memory of whose lives this little book is lovingly ¢
are witnesses encompassing us about, unseen on our side beca
veil lving-thinly betwe but on theirs th

jov, sorrowing, if in our feebleness of faith and lack of strength,

¢ open vision, rejo

Roperr B, CampBeLu
Elder

| ——
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DuGatp J. CampseLL DANIEL THOMSON
lder Elder




BoarD oF MaNaGERS—Daniel H McCallom, Daniel J Tarner, John 8, Tolman, Peter O, McBride
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Onoir—Back Row—Jenuie Oarroll, Donald MeoBride, John Patterson (Lender ). Anna Bella Marray, Mrs, T Gervis, J. Fletcher,
Lena Whitelock, Barbara McOallam, Jennis MeOallam, Mrs MeKav (Organist), Oatherine McCallum
Margaret Patteison, Flossie Murray




